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1. Name of Property

historic name ANAMOSA MAIN STREET HISTORIC DISTRICT

other names/site number

2. Location

N/A not for publication

100 Block N. Garnav1llo St.
city or town Anamosa N/A vicinity

state Iowa code __IA county Jones  code __105 zip code 52205

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, I hereby certify that this (X nomination

_ request for determination of eligibility) meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property
(X meets _ does not meet) the National Register criteria. [ recommend that this property be considered significant (_ nationally

' Etewide X locally). (_See continu:éion sheet for aZjitional comments.i \ a
Signature o v i ide Date '
S HSTRICAL socieTy oF iowa

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property (_ meets _ does not meet) the National Register criteria. (_ See continuation sheet for additional
comments.)

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau /
Lo n
TRT 2/
ignature of K W Date of Action
| YX 12909

4. Natignal Park Service Certification
I hereby certify that the property is :
%ntered in the National Register.
_ See continuation sheet.
determined eligible for the_
National Register
_ See continuation sheet
determined not eligible for the
National Register
removed from the National
Register.
Other, (Explain)




Anamosa Main Street Historic District Jones County, Jowa
Name of Property County and State

S. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
(Check as many lines as apply) (Check only one line) (Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)
X private _ building(s) Contributing Noncontributing
_ public-local X district 42 9 buildings
_ public-State _ site sites
_ public-Federal _ structure 1 structures
_ object objects
43 9 Total
Name of related multiple property listing Number of contributing resources
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing) previously listed in the National Register
N/A 0

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions Current Functions

(Enter categories from instructions) (Enter categories from instructions)
COMMERCE/TRADE/speciality store, professional, organizational COMMERCE/TRADE/speciality store, professional, organizational
INDUSTRY/manufacturing facility COMMERCE/TRADE/warehouse
SOCIAL/meeting hall SOCIAL/meeting hall

RECREATION AND CULTURE/theater RECREATION AND CULTURE/theater/museum
AGRICULTURE/SUBSISTENCE/processing VACANT/NOT IN USE

7. Description

Architectural Classification Materials
(Enter categories from instructions) (Enter categories from instructions)
LATE VICTORIAN/Italianate foundation Stone
LATE 19TH AND EARLY 20TH CENTURY walls Brick
AMERICAN MOVEMENTS/Commercial Style Stone
MODERN MOVEMENT/Art Moderne roof Asphalt
other Wood

Narrative Description
(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)




Anamosa Main Street Historic District
Name of Property

Jones County, Iowa

County and State

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" on one or more lines for the criteria qualifying the property
for National Register listing)

X A Property is associated with events that have made

a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

X C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack

individual distinction.
_ D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "x" on all the lines that apply)

Property is:

_ A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

_ B removed from its original location.
_ C abirthplace or grave.
D  acemetery.

E  areconstructed building, object, or structure.

F  acommemorative property.

G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

COMMERCE

ARCHITECTURE

Period of Significance

1863 — c. 1955

Significant Dates

1863

circa 1872

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

N/A

Cultural Affiliation

Architect/Builder
Shaw, William T.

McDaniel, S. S.

Narrative Statement of Significance - (Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets)

9. Major Bibliography References

Bibliography

(Cite the books, articles and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

_ previous determination of individual listing (36
CFR 67) has been requested

_ previously listed in the National Register

_ previously determined eligible by the National
Record

_ designated a National Historic Landmark

_ recorded by American Buildings Survey
#

_ recorded by Historic American Engineering
Record #

Primary location of additional data:

X State Historical Preservation Office
_ Other State agency

_ Federal agency

_ Local government

_ University

_ Other

Name of repository




Anamosa Main Street Historic District Jones County, Iowa
Name of Property County and State

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 9 acres +/-

UTM References
(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)

1 [ 1_.5 6.4190_5. _ _ | 4606315 5 | Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a
Zone Easting Northing continuation sheet)
2 | . | o I . | Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected on
Zone Easting Northing a continuation sheet)
3 L |
Zone Easting Northing

af oL |

11. Form Prepared By

namel/title William C. Page, Public Historian

organization ___Jones County Historic Preservation Commission date March 1, 2008

street & number 520 East Sheridan Avenue (Page) telephone 515-243-5740 (Page)
city or town Des Moines state __lowa zip code __50313-5017

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:
Continuation Sheets
Maps
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.
A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.
Photographs - Representative black and white photographs of the property.
Additional items - (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner

(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)

name See Attachment

street & number telephone
city or town state zip code

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain
a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time for reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect
of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National park Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127: and the Office of
Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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Anamosa Main Street Historic District
GENERAL DESCRIPTION

The City of Anamosa is the county seat of Jones County, lowa, and its largest city. The city is laid out
on the north side of the Wapsipinicon River, which flows from the northwest to the southeast along the
southwestern edge of the community. Buffalo Creek flows into the Wapsipinicon nearby. The natural
beauty and diverse landforms of these surroundings occasioned immediate notice by the area’s earliest

settlers. One description noted:

The surface of the country in this county is rolling, not in waves, but thrown into heaps
and low conical hills, the valleys winding in every direction, with considerable timber
along the water courses, and here and there groves of oak, maple, walnut, ash and
cottonwood on the prairies. (Andreas: 457)

The City of Anamosa shares this picturesque topography. Main Street serves as the backbone of the
community. Situated above the flood plain of the Wapsipinicon River and Buffalo Creek, this corridor
runs a generally level course from east to west through the middle of the city. A benchmark at the
corner of Booth and Main Streets indicates its elevation at 837 feet above mean sea level according to
the U.S. Geological Survey. Hills abut Main Street on its north and south sides. North Hill rises to 859
feet to a ridge above Main on the north. South Hill rises to about 900 feet to a ridge above Main on the
south. (These are nonhistoric names used in this nomination for identification.)

ANAMOSA MAIN STREET HISTORIC DISTRICT

The Anamosa Main Street Historic District is a linear corridor situated near the center of the community.
It runs from the 100 block of East Main Street to the 300 block of West Main Street. Ford Street serves
as the dividing line between East Main Street and West Main Street, and house numbers ascends in both
directions from that division point. Curiously, there is no 100 block on West Main Street, where house
numbers begin at 200. This distance includes three city blocks. Commercial buildings line both sides of
these blocks and directly abut the pedestrian rights-of-way. North and South Ford Streets include some
extensions of the commercial district. Some light industrial properties are also situated there and
included in the Anamosa Main Street Historic District.

Most buildings on Main Street are one or two stories in height. A few have three stories and visually
stand out as a result. Most buildings are either of brick or stone construction. Most buildings date from
the 1860s through the early 20th century. Italianate, late 19" and 20" century revivals, and late 19" and
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early 20™ century American movements are most prominent among their architectural styles. The
employment of locally quarried Jones County limestone is notable in the construction of these buildings.

The Anamosa Main Street Historic District contains a very limited variety of property types.
Commercial buildings predominate. The exceptions include a factory building at 107 North Garnavillo
Street, the Anamosa Creamery at 110 North Ford Street, and its annex at 108 North Ford Street. These
buildings served light industrial operations during the district’s period of significance.

Resources generally date from the 1860s through the early decades of the 20" century. Most buildings
employ vernacular commercial forms and architectural detailing popular in the Midwest during the
period. Most buildings feature storefront designs on the first floor and 1/1 double-hung sash fenestration
on the second floor. Buildings generally adjoin with one another and share a common setback from the
street. Brick and stone provide the dominant building materials.

Noncontributing resources in the district are limited. They include several buildings constructed or
remodeled within the last several years. F&M Bank, a building completed in 2005, stands near the
western edge of the district. Citizens Bank at 215 East Main Street was built in 1965 and stands at the
eastern edge of the district. Although both are evaluated as noncontributing to the historic district, their
use of Jones County limestone and the scale of their designs help them blend into their historic
surroundings. Several historic buildings are evaluated as noncontributing because they lack sufficient
integrity or postdate the historic district’s period of significance.

Because the evolution of the Anamosa Main Street Historic District forms a substantial part of its
historical significance, that evolution is discussed in Section 8 of this nomination.

Recently, the City of Anamosa completed a public works project along Main Street. These
improvements included new curbs and gutters, brick sidewalks, period-style streetlights, and other street
amenities. These improvements are in keeping with the historic character of the area and will likely
encourage private property owners to improve their own properties.
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RESOURCE CLASSIFICATION AND COUNT

The Anamosa Main Street Historic District possesses 52 resources. Of them, 43 are counted as
contributing and 9 are counted as noncontributing. These properties are listed below. All are
classified as buildings except a gazebo, which is classified as a structure.

LIST OF CONTRIBUTING AND NONCONTRIBUTING RESOURCES

Under "Eligibility” and listed criteria below, "C" indicates a contributing resource
and "N" indicates a noncontributing resource.

Date of Eligibility Criteria
Street Address Resource Name Construction A C
North Side Main Street
308-310 West Main St. Gillen Block 1890 C C
304-306 West Main St. Holt & Gillen Block 1881 C C
300-302 West Main St. Huggins & Belknap Block 1872 C C

North Garnavillo Street Intersects
220 West Main St. F & M Bank 2005 N N

Alley Intersects

210 West Main St. Metcalf Building 1863 C C
208 West Main St. Metcalf Building-First National Bank 1865 C C
206 West Main St. Peet & Cox Building 1865 C C
204 West Main St. McDaniel Building 1866 C C
200-202 West Main St. Palmer Block 1865 C C
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100 West Main Street Address Numbers Do Not Exist in Anamosa’s Central Business District

North Ford Street Intersects —East Main Street Begins

100-102-104 East Main St. Union Block 1866, 1925
106-108 East Main St. Niles & Watters Block 1884, c. 1923
110-112 East Main St. Scott Block 1875
114-116 East Main St. Holcomb Block 1875
118-120 East Main St. Schoonover Block 1876,1905
122 East Main St. Metcalf Building 1875
124 East Main St. Citizens Savings Bank 1884,1907
126 East Main St. Fisher Building 1872
128 East Main St. Rhoden Building 1880
130-132 East Main St. Masonic Lodge Block 1881
134-136 East Main St. Shaw Block 1880
138 East Main St. Shaw, Schoonover & Co. Bank 1880

North Huber Street— Eastern Boundary of Historic District

South Side Main Street
215 East Main St. Citizens Bank
N/A Gazebo
213 East Main St. Shada Building
211 East Main St. Chipman Building
209 East Main St. Blood Building
207 East Main St. Chaplin Building
205 East Main St. Palmer & Skinner Building
203 East Main St. Scott Building
201 East Main St. Tucker Building-Hotel Easterly

South Booth Street Intersects

119-121 East Main St. Schoonover Block-

Former U.S. Post Office
117 East Main St. Benton Building-Former U.S. Post Office
113-115 East Main St. Alderman-Cunningham Block

Alley Intersects

1965
c. 2000
1946
1939
1949
1903
1871
1871
1871

1904

1875
1869
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107-109 East Main St. Grand Opera House 1889
105 East Main St. Sherman-Rairdin Building 1889, c. 1978
103 East Main St. Shaw Building 1876, 1877
101 East Main St. Palmer Building 1867

South Ford Street Intersects— West Main Street Begins

100 West Main Street Address Numbers Do Not Exist in Anamosa’s Central Business District

201 West Main St. McCullough Building c. 1940
203 West Main St. Hakes Building 1881
205 West Main St. Watters & Niles Building 1871
207 West Main St. Brunskill Building 1867
209-211 West Main St. Dubuque Brewing & Malting Co. 1904

Alley Intersects

221 West Main St. Lehmkuhl Block-Opera House (remains) 1867

South Garnavillo Street—Western Boundary of Historic District

East Side North Ford Street

111 North Ford St. Commercial Building c. 1965
113 North Ford St. J. F. Scott Building 1906
115-117 North Ford St. Commercial Building c. 1907

West Side North Ford Street

110 North Ford St. Anamosa Creamery c. 1922
108 North Ford St. Anamosa Creamery Annex c. 1955
104 North Ford St. Commercial & Apartment Building 1975 +/-
102 North Ford St. Office Building 1945 +/-

East Side South Ford Street
105 South Ford St. Former Anamosa City Hall 1903

East Side North Garnavillo Street

107 North Garnavillo St. Factory c. 1920
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THUMBNAIL SKETCHES OF RESOURCES

The following thumbnail sketches provide descriptive information about each of the resources in the
Anamosa Main Street Historic Commercial District. The order of these sketches follows the same

sequence as listed above.

North Side Main Street

Gillen Block (¢)

308-310 West Main Street

Completed in 1890, this is a 2-story, brick commercial block whose front fagade
is now painted white. Cover-up materials now clad portions of the storefront,
but, where these materials have been removed, one sees that its original
configuration remains intact, including tall transom windows. The storefront is
divided by brick piers into three bays. The west bay features a centrally placed,
inset entrance flanked by storefront windows. The center bay features a
storefront window. The east bay features a storefront window and door. The
upper story originally included two oriel windows, now removed and the
cavities infilled with cover-up materials and replacement windows set flush
with the upper story wall. The remaining original windows feature 1/1 double-
hung sash with limestone block lintels and sills. A simple frieze, defined by
several stringcourses of brick, and a cornice with brick dentils, surmounts the
upper floor. An appealing ghost sign remains visible on the west elevation.
Although somewhat illegible, it reads, in part “Barron Motor Supply,” the name
of a one-time occupant. The preservation of this sign, as is, is highly
recommended. (No remuddled “restoration.”) Although the loss of the oriel
windows is a misfortune, the largely intact storefront of this block justifies its
evaluation as a contributing resource to the historic district. The date of this
block’s construction and the name of its owner, O. E. Gillen, and its builder, E.
C. Holt, are as documented by Elizabeth J. Coleman. (Coleman 1991: 42) The
name of R. W. Johnson, which appears on the concrete steps to the front
entrance, refers to a grocery business operated by Johnson in the west
commercial room early in the building’s history. (Coleman 1992: #23)
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Holt & Gillen Block (c)

304-306 West Main Street

Completed in 1881, this is a 2-story, red brick commercial block. The transoms

above the storefront are now clad with cover-up materials, but the originals

likely remain behind them. The storefront features two inset entrances flanked
by store windows. Support columns remain visible behind these windows. A
modern fixed metal canopy is suspended over the storefront between the store
windows and the transom area. The upper story features six bays, with window

cavities now foreshortened and filled with replacement windows. These
windows feature original pressed metal hoodmolds and limestone sills. A

pressed metal frieze and cornice, embellished with panels, brackets, and dentils,

surmounts the front fagade of the building. The construction of this block

resulted from an investment by local Anamosa capitalists. They included J. S.
Belknap, E. C. Holt, O. E. Gillen, E. W. Gawley, Ebenezer Brown, William M.
Skinner, and C. W. Hollenbeck. Belknap was a city officer in Anamosa during
the 1870s and a capitalist with multiple financial interests. (Andreas: 458) Holt

and Gillen apparently were the primary investors. The block cost $6,000 to

erect. (Finn: 16) “The upper story was used for office space and lodge rooms

owned by Lodge #56 of the Ancient Order of United Workman and the
Anamosa Lodge No. 217 of Independent Order of Good Templars. The
Women'’s Relief Corps bought space in the upper story in 1901.” (Coleman
1992: #22) The date of its construction, 1881, and the name of its architect,
Parsons & Foley, are as documented by an article in The Anamosa Eureka,

August 11, 1881. (Coleman 1991: 41) Although the replacement windows on

the second floor are visually distracting, the balance of this story remains

original. Elements of the original storefront also remain intact. This justifies

the block’s evaluation as contributing to the historic district.

Huggins & Belknap Block (c)

300-302 West Main Street

Constructed in 1872, this is a 2-story, brick commercial block now painted red.

The south fagade features two commercial rooms. Both rooms retain early
storefront materials, including bulkheads, inset entrance, store windows, and

transoms. Those on the west room are original to the building, and those on the

east room probably date to the 1910s or 1920s. The east storefront wraps
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around the east elevation of the building and features an inset door canted to the
northeast corner of the block. The upper story features four bays, with window
cavities now foreshortened and filled with replacement windows. These
windows feature original pressed metal hoodmolds and limestone sills. A
pressed metal frieze and cornice, embellished with panels, brackets, and dentils,
surmounts the front fagade of the building. This block features a second
primary facade on the east elevation. The use of hoodmolds continues around
the east elevation. Several hoodmolds on the first floor are similar to those on
the second floor of the Holt & Gillen Commercial Block at 304-306 West Main
Street. A major fire in this building circa 1990 called into question its viability.
A concerted preservation effort resulted in rehabilitation of the block, only
marred by the installation of inappropriate windows on the second floor of the
south elevation. The date of this building’s construction is as documented by an
article in The Anamosa Eureka, November 14, 1872. (Coleman 1991: 41)

North Garnavillo Street Intersects

F & M Bank (n)

220 West Main Street

Built in 2005 by general contractor Bruggeman Design Group of Cedar Rapids,
Iowa, from their design, this is a 1-story, orange and red-colored brick and stone
commercial building covered with a compound hip and deck roof intersected by
front gables. The building is set back slightly deeper from the street than other
properties along Main Street. Locally quarried limestone provides architectural
embellishments to the building, as well as to a retaining wall. This stone is
worked in various ways to display its possibilities, including a water table, belt
course, and quoins. A driveway to a drive-in teller is situated to the east of this
building. This is the site of several earlier edifices. Fisher House, later known
as Gillen House, Iowan House, and the Iowan Hotel, stood on the corner.
Several other pioneer edifices in Anamosa stood on this site. They included a
commercial building, erected in 1858 and once used as the U.S. Post Office in
Anamosa and the International Order of Odd Fellows Block at 212 West Main
Street (constructed in 1860). Both stood next door to this bank to the east and

are now nonextant.

Alley Intersects
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Metcalf Building (c)

210 West Main Street

Constructed in 1863 by Horace Metcalf, this 2-story building is of soft,
Anamosa-fired brick now painted an orange-red color. The original storefront
has been removed and now features a centrally placed entrance flanked by
picture windows with the balance infilled with locally quarried limestone. The
upper story possesses three bays, each with 1/1 double-hung windows, limestone
lintels, and limestone sills. A brickworked cornice with deeply inset panels and
a plain cornice surmount the fagade. A visually distracting, modern balcony
wraps around the facade to the west elevation, suggesting an historic balcony of
similar configuration, as shown in historic photographs. The date of this
building’s construction, 1863, and the name of its early owner, George E. Noble,
are as documented by an article in The Anamosa Eureka, cited as March 28,
1862 but likely in error for March 28, 1863. (Coleman 1991: 4) Although this
building has been considerably altered, its very early date of construction and the
preservation of its essential elements— particularly its upper story fenestration
treatment, frieze, and cornice —justify its evaluation as contributing to the
historic district. The date of this building’s construction and the name of its first
owner are as documented by Elizabeth J. Coleman. (Coleman: 1992 #17)

Metcalf Building-First National Bank (c)

208 West Main Street

Constructed in 1865, this 2-story commercial building is built of soft, Anamosa-
fired brick of an orange-red color and now painted. Much of the paint has worn
off. The storefront is an entirely modern design of metal frame and glass and
rests on an original limestone plate. Original transoms might remain intact
under cover-up materials above the store window. The second floor features
three bays. The two east bays have foreshortened and replacement windows
with original limestone lintels and sills. The west bay was enlarged at one time
and now has a replacement window and in-fill materials in its cavity. Its
original limestone lintel is missing, although its original limestone sill remains.
A brickworked cornice with inset panels and a simple cornice with dentils
surmount the upper story. Fixed metal canopies extend across the front facade
of this building and its neighbor to the east, the Peet & Cox Building at 206
West Main Street. H(orace). C. Metcalf built this property. He was born in
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May 1821 in Indiana and came to Anamosa in 1845, one of its early settlers and
businessmen. Metcalf engaged in mercantile pursuits for 20 years and then
began a banking business in 1869. Two years later, he organized the First
National Bank and was elected its president. Metcalf served in this office until
January 1879, when the national banking system was established and Metcalf
discontinued the business, engaging again in private banking. (Western
Historical Company: 568) The First National Bank operated from this building.
The second story served as a courtroom for the County of Jones County.
Although the replacement windows on the second floor are visually distracting,
allowance should be made for the building’s great age in evaluating it,
particularly since its frieze and cornice remain virtually intact and contribute to
the rhythm of these important architectural details along the historic district’s
streetscape. The date of this block’s construction, 1865, and the name of its
early owner, H. C. Metcalf, are as documented by an article in The Anamosa
Eureka, May 18, 1865. (Coleman 1991: 5) The near identical design of this
building’s fagade and its neighbor to the east, the Peet & Cox, suggests that it
also was constructed by William T. Shaw.

Peet & Cox Building (c)

206 West Main Street

Constructed in 1865 by William T. Shaw for D. A. Peet and Archie Cox,
grocers, this 2-story commercial block is built of soft, Anamosa-fired brick of
an orange-red color and now painted. Much of the paint has worn off. The
storefront of the east room has been remodeled with limestone rubble laid
randomly. Its second floor repeats the design of the Metcalf Building-First
National Bank next door at 208 West Main Street, including frieze and cornice,
except that all its window cavities remain intact. Fixed metal canopies extend
across the entire front facade of both of these buildings. The date of this
building’s construction, 1865, and the name of its builder and early owner,
William T. Shaw, are as documented by an article in The Anamosa Eureka,
November 25, 1865. (Coleman 1991: 6) “D. A. Peet and Archie Cox opened
their dry goods and grocery store later that same year [1865]. By the late 1870s,
D. A. Peet was running the dry goods store alone. In 1878, he put a new glass
front and awning on the building.” (Coleman 1992: #15)
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McDaniel Building (c)

204 West Main Street

Constructed in 1866 for Lieutenant Richard McDaniel, this is a 2-story
commercial building of locally quarried limestone. The storefront has been
extensively remodeled with brick infill, a window, and two doors. A fixed,
metal canopy extends across the storefront. The upper story remains largely
intact. Itis of polished (or rubbed) limestone construction and features three
bays, each with 1/1-double-hung sash windows. Several limestone stringcourses
and three inset panels form a frieze, surmounted by a simple cornice defined by
another set of stringcourses. The current 1/1-double-hung windows on the
second floor are replacements, perhaps dating to the turn of the 20™ century.

An historic photograph of the building pictures a metal railing between the first
and second floors. (Finn: 9) The date of this block’s construction, 1866, the
name of its early owner, Richard McDaniel, and the name of its attributed
builder, S. S. McDaniel, are as documented by Elizabeth J. Coleman. “Itis
important to note that Richard McDaniel’s father was S. S. McDaniel. The
older McDaniel was involved in the actual building as a brick mason of many
Anamosa buildings, including the Fisher House.” (Coleman 1991: 7; 1992:
#14) In spite of the alterations to the storefront of this building, its early
construction and use of stone for the facade justify its evaluation as contributing
to the historic district.

Palmer Block (¢)

200-202 West Main Street

Constructed in 1865, by Henry L. Palmer this is a 2-story, brick commercial
block now painted puce. The storefronts of both the east room and the west
room have been remodeled, but they still feature large store windows, as would
have originally been in place. A fixed, metal canopy extends across the
storefront. The upper story features six bays across the front of the facade.
They are filled with 1/1-double-hung sash with limestone lintels and sills. The
current 1/1-double-hung windows on the second floor are replacements, perhaps
dating to the turn of the 20" century. Originally, these windows would have
been 6/6 double-hung sash. A projecting stringcourse of brick forms a frieze
with panels of brick formed in arches. An historic photograph of the building
pictures a metal railing between the first and second floors in front of each of
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the block’s two commercial rooms. (Finn: 9) A simple cornice with dentils and
a copy, which is perhaps modern, caps the block. The east elevation of this
block repeats the second floor window treatment of the front facade. A front
gable roof covers a portion of this block, an architectural feature, which
indicates an early date of construction for commercial buildings in Anamosa. A
number of businesses have occupied this block, including J. W. Conmey’s dry
goods store and Graham’s Department Store. An advertising sign for J. W,
Conmey, now repainted, is on the east elevation of this block. The construction
date of the block and the name of its early owner, H. L. Palmer, are as
documented by an article in The Anamosa Eureka, May 18, 1865. (Coleman

1991: 8)

100 West Main Street Address Numbers Do Not Exist in Anamosa’s Central Business District

North Ford Street Intersects—East Main Street Begins

Union Block (c)

100-102-104 East Main Street

Originally constructed in 1866, the front facade of this edifice was face-lifted in
1925, leaving the long west elevation of the building largely unaltered. The
face-lift also preserved the limestone quoins on the corners of the front facade
and the limestone belt course between the storefront and the second floor. The
period of significance for this building, under Criterion C, should be considered,
therefore, 1866-1925. An article in The Anamosa Eureka, July 12, 1866
(Coleman 1991: 9; 1992: #12) dates the original construction of this block and
the names of its builders— Alderman & Williams, E. H. Sherman, and William
T. Shaw. At one time, letters worked in brick and reading “Union Block” ran
across the south elevation of the building above its second floor. These letters
were removed in the 1925 face-lift. A circa 1867 photograph of the building
does not picture them, so they must have been later additions to the fagade.
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Niles & Watters Block (c)

106-108 East Main Street

Originally constructed in 1884 by the banking firm of Niles & Watters, this
edifice was face-lifted circa 1923 by the same firm. Because of this radical
redesign, the block should be evaluated as a 1920s edifice. It appears today as a
2-story, brick commercial block. The storefront of the west room preserves the
general configuration of its c. 1923 design. The east room originally formed a
part of the Scott Block next door and was included as part of the circa 1923
remodeling. The 108 East Main Street storefront has been infilled with Jones
County limestone, foreshortened windows, and an off-centered door. The upper
story possesses high integrity of its c. 1923 design. Elizabeth J. Coleman
reports, “This brick building was built in 1884 by C. L. Niles and George
Watters. The Monticello Express contains limited accounts of its progress. By
October 1884, it was being occupied by Niles & Watters as a bank. The bank
was a privately owned bank until January of 1905, when articles of incorporation
were filed. Bank vaults still remain. There is a Mosler vault door that has
railroad tie supports between the basement and first floor. An old style Diebold
safe also remains. It has double doors on the outside. It is black with fancy gold
trim.” (Coleman 1992: #11) The construction date of the block is documented
by an article in The Monticello Express, May 29, 1884. (Coleman 1992: 10)
Finn reports that “in 1923, when the brick dividing wall was torn down the brick
wall was found to be as good as when originally constructed.” Finn also notes
that after its incorporation, the Niles & Watters bank remained in business until
the Great Depression, when it ceased operations. (Finn: 18) The original 1884
building included a parapet, which rose above its neighbors by four or five feet.

Scott Block (¢)

110-112 East Main Street

Constructed in 1875 by William T. Shaw for hardware merchant J. A. Scott, this
2-story, orangish-red brick structure includes two remodeled storefronts and six
bays on its upper floor. The construction date of the block and the name of its
early owner, J. A. Scott, are as documented by an article in The Anamosa
Eureka, May 18, 1865. (Coleman 1991: 8) The storefront at 110 was remodeled
in the 1960s or 1970s with a bulkhead and corner posts of locally quarried
limestone. A transom with prism glass remains extant from an earlier
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remodeling of the storefront circa 1925. The 112 storefront features a centrally
placed, inset entrance flanked by storefront windows, surmounted with a transom
of prism glass. This design dates from circa 1925 and likely was repeated at 110.
The upper floor across the entire fagade features arched limestone hoodmolds
and limestone sills. Foreshortened double-hung, metal windows have replaced
the original sash. A brickworked frieze with oval-shaped, recessed panels and
cornice cap the facade. The upper floor of this block and that of the Holcomb
Block at 114-116 East Main Street feature nearly identical designs. Both were
constructed after a devastating fire in 1875 wiped out this section on the north
side of East Main Street.

Holcomb Block (c)

114-116 East Main Street

Constructed in 1875 by William T. Shaw “for a Mr. Holcomb.” The
construction date of this building and the name of its early owner are as
documented by Elizabeth J. Coleman. (Coleman 1992: #9) This 2-story,
orangish-red brick structure includes a remodeled storefront and five bays on its
upper floor. The storefront features six cast iron columns defining five bays.
Plate glass windows fill these bays. When originally constructed, the Scott
Block at 110-112 probably included a similar design for its storefront. The
upper floor across the entire facade features arched limestone hoodmolds and
limestone sills. Foreshortened double-hung, metal windows have replaced the
original sash. A brickworked frieze with oval-shaped, recessed panels and
cornice cap the fagade. The upper floor of this block and that of the Scott Block
at 110-112 East Main Street feature nearly identical designs. Both were
constructed after a devastating fire in 1875 wiped out this section on the north

side of East Main Street.

Schoonover Block (¢)

118-120 East Main Street

Originally constructed in 1876 by William T. Shaw for Wolf Vehon, this is a 2-
story, light orange-colored brick commercial block, which was face-lifted by
George L. Schoonover in 1905. The block should be evaluated as a 1905 edifice
because of this extensive remodeling. Its present storefront is yet another
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remodeling. It features two inset entrances, one with one door and one with two
doors, flanked by storefront windows. Locally quarried limestone is used for the
bulkheads of this storefront. Although cover-up materials mask the transom
area, original materials might remain behind them. A fixed, metal canopy runs
across the entire storefront between the storefront windows and transom. The
upper floor possesses three bays, slightly inset from the plane of the fagade.
Each bay possesses a series of windows. The center bay features a ribbon of
three windows with 1/1 double-hung sash, capped with a large, brick segmental
arch. Paired windows with 1/1 double-hung sash flank it. The paired windows
feature plain, limestone block lintels and sills. The inset design of these bays
suggests the presence of pilasters to define them. Brick denticulation surmounts
these bays, repeated above in the frieze. A simple cornice caps this block,
defined by two projecting stringcourses of limestone between courses of brick.
Wolf Vehon was a clothier, who previously had established the Chicago
Clothing Store at another location in Anamosa. Vehon’s new block “had a tin
roof that was put up by George Sauser an employee of J. A. Scott. J. R. Cook
completed a sign for Vehon’s store in 1877 that announced Vehon’s Great
Western Clothing Store. In 1885 Vehon sold his building to banker Lawrence
Schoonover. . . George L. Schoonover remodeled the exterior in 1905 by tearing
out the old front. The front was rebuilt with buff colored pressed brick and
prism glass that was between the first and second stories. The interior was
improved with electric lights and new shelving. New steel ceilings were also put
in place at this time.” Gildner Brothers, a clothing store, occupied this space
originally. (Coleman 1992: #8) This is a separate property to the Schoonover
Block-U.S. Post Office at 119-121 East Main Street. This block was originally
constructed after a devastating fire in 1875 wiped out this section on the north
side of East Main Street.

Metcalf Building (c)

122 East Main Street

Constructed in 1875 by Horace Metcalf, this building and its builder are as
documented by Elizabeth J. Coleman. (Coleman 1992: #7) This 2-story, brick
structure includes a storefront with three bays and four bays on its upper floor.
The storefront features four support columns (likely of cast iron but now clad
with cover-up materials), which define the three bays. Recently remodeled
windows flank a centrally placed entrance. The upper floor features three
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windows and one door. The door originally provided access to an iron balcony.
This cavity is now foreshortened with a replacement door. The original windows
(likely double-hung sash) have been replaced by single-pane windows. While
this remodeling has given new life to an historic building, the new design,
particularly the upper floor windows, are visually distracting. Original stone
hoodmolds cap the upper-story windows, along with a brickworked frieze with
oval panels and cornice with dentils. The facade is now painted gray. This
building was constructed after a devastating fire in 1875 wiped out this section
on the north side of East Main Street.

Citizens Savings Bank (c)

124 East Main Street
Originally constructed for C. M. Brown in 1884, this 2-story building was face-

lifted in 1907 for the Citizens Savings Bank (Coleman 1992: #6) with orangish-
red colored brick. The building features a remodeled storefront, with an inset
entrance, and a ribbon window with four, double-hung sash on the second floor.
Pilasters of Bedford, Indiana, limestone flank this ribbon window, capped with a
stone arch with keystone. (Perhaps the national reputation of Bedford limestone
accounts for its use here.) Heavy, pressed metal brackets are situated at the top
of the building and support a wide cornice. A drawing of the original 1907
design of this building pictures a storefront with a stone pilaster flanked on the
west by inset entrance surmounted with a large transom with prism glass and on
the east by a storefront window, also surmounted with a large transom with
prism glass. (Ibid.) This prism glass might remain extant behind cover-up

materials.

Fisher Building (c)

126 East Main Street
This is a 2-story, red brick commercial block. It features a remodeled storefront,

with plate glass store windows and an inset entrance. Original (or early)
transoms might remain behind cover-up materials, which mask the area. Cover-
up materials might also mask a limestone lintel and stringcourse likely present in
this area. This use would repeat the same use of these materials as at other
properties directly to the east of this building. A fixed, metal canopy runs across
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the entire storefront between the storefront windows and transom. The second
floor at 126 features three bays, each with foreshortened, 1/1 double-hung sash
with limestone hoodmolds. The sills are masked with cover-up material but are
likely limestone. The hoodmolds repeat a similar design as at the building’s
neighbors to the east. A pressed metal or wood frieze or cornice caps this
building. The frieze features three panels surmounted by a projecting cornice
with four brackets with pendants.

Rhoden Building (c)

128 East Main Street

This is a 2-story, red brick commercial block. It features a remodeled storefront,
with plate glass store windows and an inset entrance. Original (or early)
transoms might remain behind cover-up materials, which mask the area. A
limestone stringcourse separates the first and second floors with a limestone
lintel likely present behind the transom area cover-up materials. This use of
limestone for a lintel and stringcourse would repeat the same use of these
materials as at the Masonic Lodge Block and commercial building directly to the
east of this building. The second floor at 128 features four bays, each with
foreshortened, 1/1 double-hung sash with limestone hoodmolds and sills. The
hoodmolds repeat the design of those at the other two properties already
mentioned. A simple, brickworked frieze and cornice with dentils caps this

building.

Masonic Lodge Block (¢)

130-132 East Main Street

Constructed in 1881 by William T. Shaw, this is a 3-story, red brick commercial
block. It features a remodeled storefront, with large, plate glass, store windows
and an inset entrance. Original (or early) transoms might remain behind cover-
up materials, which mask the area. A limestone lintel and stringcourse separate
the first and second floors. The second floor features six bays, each with 1/1
double-hung sash with limestone hoodmolds and sills. The hoodmolds repeat
the design of those at the commercial block next door to the east and the
commercial building next door to the west. A limestone stringcourse separates
the 2™ and 3" stories. The 3™ story features six exceptionally tall bays, now
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filled with foreshortened windows. Elaborate, cast stone hoodmolds of
horseshoe-shaped design cap these windows with limestone sills at their base. A
cast stone name plaque in Maltese cross design is situated above these windows,
indicating that the local chapter of the Grand Army of the Republic also met in
the building. A ribbon-shaped cast stone plaque is situated above it. This plaque
reads “A[ncient]. Flree]. & A[ccepted]. M[asons]” above “1881,” the date of the
block’s construction. This edifice is capped with an elaborate parapet with
frieze, cornice, and pediment. The pediment is arched, a treatment repeated by
the brick frieze. The latter is flanked on each side by horizontal panels, worked
in brick. The cornice repeats the line of the pediment and frieze and features
corbels, dentils, and a keystone surmounting the arch, worked in limestone and
brick. A coping of limestone caps the pediment. Original brick chimneys
remain on the west edge of the roof. This block is one of two 3-story edifices
extant in the Anamosa Main Street Historic District. The block stands as a
landmark in the district because of its height. The rich detailing of its third story
further emphasizes its importance. Elizabeth J. Coleman reports the following
about this block: “William T. Shaw was the contractor who put up the three
story Masonic Lodge building in 1881. The masons determined that they would
put up a third story for a lodge room. . . In the Anamosa Eureka, the structure
was described as having ‘stone coping and key-stone, (that) are securely tied
down by strong iron rods built deep in the wall.” The large store rooms in the 37
by 90 foot structure were looked on with wonder.” (Coleman 1992: #3)

Shaw Block (¢)

134-136 East Main Street
This is a 2-story, red brick commercial block. It features a remodeled storefront,

with large, plate glass store windows and an inset entrance. Original (or early)
transoms might remain behind cover-up materials, which mask the area. A door
at the west end of the first floor is surmounted with a double-paned transom with
painted lettering, which reads “Starlighters Theatre,” the name of its present
occupant. Although this door forms part of this commercial block, it serves as
an entrance to the Masonic Lodge Block next door. This physical link between
the two blocks and the repetition of hoodmolds on both of them point to William
T. Shaw as the builder of the 134-136 block. A limestone lintel and stringcourse
separate the first and second floors. The second floor features six bays, each
with 1/1 double-hung sash with limestone hoodmolds and sills. These sash
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might be original to the block. Their design is certainly architecturally
appropriate for its style. The hoodmolds also repeat the design of those on the
Rhoden Building at 128 East Main Street. A brickworked frieze with inset
panels and cornice with dentils caps this block.

Shaw & Schoonover Bank (c)

138 East Main Street

This is a 2-story, orange-red brick commercial building. It possesses a double
facade, one facing East Main Street and one facing Huber Street. A canted front
entrance to the building on the southeast corner of the building links these two
facades. The Main Street fagade features a remodeled storefront surmounted by
a pent roof with shake shingles. A limestone lintel and stringcourse separate the
first and second floors. Limestone quoins edge both of the corners of the upper
floor. This quoin work echoes the same architectural motif as found in the
Union Block at 100-102-104 East Main Street at the west end of this city block,
so that both of these edifices act as bookends to those commercial properties in
between. Shaw’s Block-Jones County Courthouse (nonextant), across the street
to the east at 200 East Main Street, also featured limestone corner quoins, so that
this motif provided a visual continuity of premeditated design along Main Street.
